ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 


The trial court committed reversible error when it refused to instruct the jury regarding 

the legal effect ofPetitioner's intoxication on his ability to form the requisite mens rea to commit 

premeditated murder or felony murder. 

STATEMENT OF CASE 

Petitioner Brian Hayslett was denied a fair trial upon the charge of premeditated murder 

and felony murder because the circuit court refused to instruct the jury regarding the potential 

legal effect of Petitioner's voluntary intoxication upon his ability to form the intent to kill 

Rhonda McCoy, or to commit burglary, as a predicate offense for felony murder. Without these 

instructions, the jury convicted Petitioner of first degree murder for killing Rhonda McCoy. A.R. 

1965-70. 

Between 10 and 11 p.m. on June 18, 2011, Petitioner Brian Hayslett killed Rhonda 

McCoy with a knife at Jeffrey Redden's residence located at 509 Coal City Road in Pemberton, 

West Virginia. A.R. 939, 1239. At trial, the defense questioned whether Petitioner, due to his 

highly intoxicated state, could form the intent to kill required for premeditated murder or the 

intent to commit burglary, the predicate offense for the State's theory of felony murder. 

Lisa Meador and Petitioner lived together at 607 Coal City Road in Pemberton, West 

Virginia. A.R. 934-35. This is 176 yards away from his neighbor Jeffrey Redden's residence, 

where the decedent Rhonda McCoy was killed. A.R. 697. 

Petitioner consumed a large quantity of Xanax and whiskey on June 18, 2011 and exhibited 
behavior indicative of gross intoxication. 

Petitioner admittedly had a long-standing problem with OxyContin and Xanax abuse, and 

Jeffrey Redden was one ofhis suppliers. A.R. 1225-27, 1235. On the day in question, Petitioner 

had overcome his OxyContin addiction, but he was still abusing Xanax. A.R. 1224-28. 
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Petitioner's drug dealer Dave stopped by his house around 10:30 a.m. and sold him 6 blue 

Xanax. A.R. 1225, 1228-29. Dave wanted to buy some unspecified type of pills from Jeffrey 

Redden, so Dave and Petitioner went to Redden's trailer. A.R. 1225-26. Redden told Dave he 

had no pills for sale, and Dave left. A.R. 1230-31. Petitioner stayed at Redden's and started 

drinking Lord Calvert whiskey with Redden and Rhonda McCoy, who were already intoxicated. 

A.R. 1230-31. Petitioner had never met McCoy before. A.R. 1229-30. Petitioner was at 

Redden's trailer for 2 to 3 hours until 12:30-1 p.m. A.R. 1231, 1237. During this time, Petitioner 

drank "a good bit" of whiskey out of the bottle and insufflated "a few" Xanax pills in addition to 

the 4-5 blue Xanax pills that he bought from Dave. A.R. 1231-34. It was Petitioner's first time 

drinking bourbon, but he helped to ,consume two liter bottles of Lord Calvert. A.R. 1233-34. 

Needless to say, Petitioner became intoxicated from the effects of the Xanax and whiskey and 

''things started getting foggy" for him while he was at Redden's trailer. A.R. 1235-37. 

At some point, several more people arrived at Redden's residence and gathered outside 

around a fire pit. A.R. 1237. Petitioner and Redden were inside the trailer talking when Rhonda 

McCoy came in and performed an unsolicited lap dance for them; then she demanded $20 from 

both of them. A.R. 1236-37. Both Redden and Petitioner refused to give her any money. A.R. 

1236. McCoy then threatened Petitioner by telling him that she would falsely tell Petitioner's 

girlfriend Lisa Meador that they had sex. A.R. 1238. An argument ensued and Petitioner 

returned to his residence to defuse the situation. A.R. 1237. 

After he returned to his home, Petitioner started drinking on the five 22 ounce beers in his 

refrigerator at home. A.R. 1237. Time began slipping away from Petitioner, and the next thing 

he remembered his girlfriend Lisa Meador came home. A.R. 1237-38. Meador testified that she 

saw Petitioner with a whiskey bottle at this time, and he was "pretty intoxicated ... fairly 
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intoxicated." A. R. 950-51. Petitioner testified that Meador was "pretty furious that [he] was so 

intoxicated [so] she left" to play the poker machines. A.R. 1238. When Meador returned 

between 9-9:30 p.m., the bottle of whiskey was gone and Petitioner appeared even more 

intoxicated. A.R. 957-58. The record clearly shows that after Meador's return, Petitioner 

exhibited bizarre behaviors that were indicative of a gross degree of intoxication during the short 

amount of time leading up to the killing. 

The gross degree ofPetitioner's intoxication between 30-90 minutes before the killing 

was conspicuously proven to the jury when Meador returned from the poker machines around 

9:30 p.m. and observed Petitioner in the driveway washing what he thought was blood off his 

truck. A.R.962-63. However, there was no blood on his truck; it was "coal mud." A.R. 960. 

Petitioner told Meador that he thought he got blood on his truck because "he had killed a man by 

getting in a fistfight with him and he had took [sic] the body through a tunnel that was behind 

our house and put it in a barrel and burned it" after she left to go to the poker machines. A.R. 

960, 964. Meador thought Petitioner's story was factually "impossible," but he "he was serious" 

when he told her this far-fetched story. A.R. 964. The fact that the Petitioner had mistaken mud 

for blood was truly delusional, bizarre behavior that is plainly evidence that Petitioner was 

grossly intoxicated shortly before he killed Rhonda McCoy. 

Petitioner's mother, Donna Daniels, also provided evidence that Petitioner was grossly 

intoxicated in the minutes before he killed Rhonda McCoy. Daniels arrived in Pemberton after 

9:30 p.m. on the night in question. Daniels testified that Petitioner appeared very intoxicated 

when she arrived at his trailer; he was staggering and saying ''things that didn't make sense." 

A.R. 1104, 1108. Because ofPetitioner's grossly intoxicated state, she and Lisa Meador took the 

beer out of the refrigerator and poured it out. A.R. 958, 1122. Further, Petitioner told Daniels 
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that "he had been drinking alcohol with Jeff Redden all day" and he had also taken prescription 

medication that day. A.R. 1108, 1123. Daniels also observed that Petitioner was acting in a 

bizarre manner; he was growling in a deep voice, his "face just changed" its appearance, and he 

was acting "like I'd never ever seen him before in my life." A.R. 1125-26. 

Donna Daniels and Lisa Meador essentially acted as nursemaids for Petitioner after they 

arrived in Pemberton at 9:30 p.m. At some point between 10:00-11 p.m., Petitioner returned to 

Redden's trailer and killed McCoy with a knife. A.R. 939, 1239. Before he left the trailer, 

Petitioner was still saying that he had killed someone, even though his girlfriend did not believe 

he had; and he said he wanted to go back to Redden's trailer to get a beer since Meador and 

Daniels poured it all out. A.R. 938. Before going to Redden's trailer, Petitioner got a knife, left 

the trailer, and he returned 5-7 minutes later ''white as a sheet." A.R. 939, 1123-24. When 

Petitioner returned, he was still making "this awful growling like sound" and he vomited in the 

bathroom and the kitchen sink before falling down. A.R. 1126-27. 

Petitioner proffered additional relevant evidence of his gross intoxication during the 

minutes leading up to the incident, but the trial court excluded it as impermissible lay opinion 

testimony. A.R. 887-917. In particular, Petitioner wished to offer testimony regarding Donna 

Daniels' and Lisa Meador's pretrial statements that he was "hallucinating," "crazy," 

"delusional," "not operating with a full 52," and was "out ofhis head, like a madman." A.R. 

803-11, 887-925, 951-56, 1105-07. 

Overall, the Petitioner introduced, or attempted to introduce, a vast quantity of evidence 

proving that he was grossly intoxicated immediately before and after the incident. The purpose 

ofthis evidence was to prove Petitioner's intoxication defense, in an effort to convince the jury 
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that he could not form the requisite intent to commit premeditated murder or burglary. However, 

the trial court refused to instruct the jury on the legal effect ofPetitioner's intoxication. 

Despite a copious amount of evidence that Petitioner was grossly intoxicated on the night in 
question, the trial court refused to instruct the jury regarding the legal effect of Petitioner's 

intoxication. 

Throughout the trial, defense counsel introduced evidence ofPetitioner's intoxication to 

support the theory thl;lt Petitioner was so intoxicated that he could not form the intent to kill or 

commit a burglary, the predicate offense for felony murder. The defense began laying the 

groundwork for an intoxication defense during its opening statement by telling the jury that 

witnesses would testify that Petitioner was "out ofhis head, drunk, on drugs, and perhaps 

hallucinating." A.R. 622. The defense further told the jury that the Petitioner's mother would 

testify that he was so intoxicated immediately prior to killing McCoy that she though he was 

possessed by a demon or evil spirit. A.R. 628. 

During the trial, the defense introduced a plethora ofevidence regarding Petitioner's 

intoxication on the night in question through Petitioner's girlfriend Lisa Meador and his mother 

DonnaDaniels. A.R. 936-38, 950-51, 957-58, 966-71, 980,1108,1122-26,1136-43,1149. 

Petitioner also testified extensively regarding his intoxication in the hours leading up to McCoy's 

killing. A.R. 1228-37, 1254, 1256, 1288. 

Petitioner introduced evidence from three witnesses that he was grossly intoxicated when 

he retrieved his stepson's hunting knife and traveled 176 yards on foot to Jeffrey Redden's trailer 

for the stated purpose ofgetting a beer, only to kill Rhonda McCoy instead. The bizarre details 

ofPetitioner's intoxicated state could have been fairly interpreted by the jury as evidence that 

Petitioner was grossly intoxicated. Despite this, the trial court refused to read Petitioner's 

instructions regarding intoxication because 
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[t ]he issue under the law is whether - it is not whether the Defendant was 
intoxicated, it is whether he was so intoxicated that - at the time the criminal act 
was committed, that he was at that moment unable to form the requisite intent. 
There is no - the Defendant was the only person there, if what he's - if the 
evidence is what it seems to be, and he can offer no evidence as to his condition 
then. No one else was there except the victim. The evidence that is presented is 
that he was intoxicated, but there is no evidence that - at the time of the 
observations that he was intoxicated, that at that time he was unable to form the 
requisite intent, which is the thing that would need to be extrapolated into the 
events of the crime; not the intoxication, but the inability to form the intent. 
There's no observation - there's no evidence from any observer at any time 
during his - the history of the evening that, even though intoxicated, he could not 
form intent. Therefore, the mere - drunkenness itself, intoxication itself does not, 
standing alone, form a defense unless that requisite element is added to it, which 
is absent from this case. 

A.R. 1368-69,1971-73. Defense counsel protested that ''the Defendant's mother testified that, 

five minutes before ... the offense occurred, he was falling down, out of his mind drunk." A.R. 

1369. The Court responded that "I think the testimony was that he was intoxicated. Intoxication, 

standing alone, is not sufficient. There must be evidence that he did not have the requisite intent 

or capacity to form that intent. The evidence was he was walking around doing things." A.R. 

1370. Defense counsel asked ifPetitioner's mother "would be required to testify that he was so 

drunk he couldn't form intent? 1 mean what evidence could there possibly be ofthat?" A.R. 

1370. The Court responded "[t]hat's exactly I think the problem, because, if it doesn't work that 

way, then intoxication, standing alone, is permitted as a defense and the case law doesn't support 

that." A.R. 1370. The defense persisted, arguing "[i]fit's ajury question, Your Honor, as to 

whether the intoxication is sufficient to negate, that's why there's the jury instruction." A.R. 

1370. The Court responded that the evidence does not support an intoxication instruction, and 

ended further discussion of the issue. A.R. 1371. 

The defense recognized that the Court's ruling devastated Petitioner's defense to such a 

degree that he told the court that he may not be able to present a closing argument. A. R. 1370
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71, 1373. Although defense counsel did make a very brief closing argument, Petitioner's 

intoxicated state was not mentioned once during closing argument. A.R. 1445-52. The trial 

court's refusal to instruct the jury regarding the legal effect of Petitioner's voluntary drunkenness 

instruction clearly and unfairly neutered Petitioner's theory ofdefense. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Petitioner presented an abundance ofevidence that he was grossly intoxicated both before 

and after he killed Rhonda McCoy. Petitioner had the right to have voluntary intoxication 

instructions read to the jury because he laid an evidentiary foundation for them, and voluntary 

intoxication can negate the specific intent elements of both premeditated murder and felony 

murder. However, the trial court refused to instruct the jury regarding Petitioner's voluntary 

intoxication. Without these instructions oflaw, the jury had no way ofknowing what legal effect 

Petitioner's intoxication had on the mens rea elements ofpremeditated murder and felony 

murder. Since Petitioner introduced evidence that reasonably raised an intoxication defense, the 

jurors should have been instructed on the law ofvoluntary intoxication. However, they were not, 

and the trial court committed reversible error when it refused to instruct the jury regarding 

Petitioner's voluntary intoxication. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Petitioner represents that this case is appropriate for Rule 19 argument, because it 

involves error in the application ofsettled law. 

ARGUMENT 

I. 	 The Petitioner had a right to have the jury instructed regarding his theory of 
defense, voluntary intoxication. 

The trial court committed reversible error when it refused to instruct the jury regarding 

the legal effect ofPetitioner's intoxication. The Petitioner certainly laid an evidentiary 
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foundation for his voluntary intoxication defense; he presented evidence through multiple 

witnesses of his intoxication throughout the day of June 18,2011, right up to the time he left his 

residence with a knife between 10-11 p.m., and 5-7 minutes later after he returned from Jeffrey 

Redden's trailer. 

A defendant is entitled to an instruction as to any recognized defense if the defense is 

"reasonably raised by the evidence." State v. Larock, 196 W.Va. 294, 308, 470 S.E.2d 613,627 

(1996), citing Mathews v. United States, 485 U.S. 58, 63 (1988); see Syllabus Point 7, State v. 

Alie, 82 W.Va. 601, 96 S.E. 1011 (1918) ("[w]here there is competent evidence tending to 

support a pertinent theory in the case, it is the duty of the trial court to give an instruction 

presenting such theory when requested to do so."). Therefore, "in criminal cases a defendant 

generally is entitled to a jury charge that reflects any defense theory for which there is a 

foundation in the evidence." Larock at 308,627; see In re Oliver, 333 U.S. 257,273 (1948) (due 

process requires an opportunity to present a defense). Moreover, a trial court's "failure to 

instruct ajury upon a legally and factually cognizable defense is not subject to harmless error 

analysis .... " Larock at 308, 627. 

Petitioner's defense at trial was that his voluntary intoxication was severe enough that he 

was unable to form the specific intent required to commit premeditated murder or felony murder. 

Although voluntary intoxication does not ordinarily excuse a crime, "[w]here there is evidence in 

a murder case to support the defendant's theory that his intoxication at the time of the crime was 

such that he was unable to formulate the requisite intent to kill, it is error for the trial court to 

refuse to give a proper instruction presenting such a theory when requested to do so." Syllabus 

Point 4, State v. Keeton, 166 W.Va. 77,272 S.E.2d 817 (1980). Further, "voluntary intoxication 

can be used as a partial defense" to the specific intent crime ofburglary, which was the predicate 
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offense for the State's felony murder theory. State v. Skidmore, 228 W.Va. 166, 718 S.E.2d 516 

n.6 (2011), citing State v. Phillips, 80 W.Va. 748,93 S.E. 828 (1917) (intoxication can serve as a 

defense to burglary if the defendant was so intoxicated that he could not form the requisite 

specific intent); A.R. 609-10. The intoxication defense is precisely the reason that Petitioner 

Hayslett offered so much evidence of his intoxication on the night in question; to challenge the 

specific intent elements ofpremeditated murder and felony murder. However, the circuit court 

committed error by refusing to instruct the jury on Petitioner's voluntary intoxication defense, 

even though it was reasonably raised by the evidence presented at trial. 

Given that the Petitioner more than adequately raised the factual issue that he was grossly 

intoxicated when he killed Rhonda McCoy, the jury was not properly instructed regarding the 

law, and this is an abuse of discretion. See State v. Guthrie, 194 W.Va. 657, 671, 461 S.E.2d 

163, 177 (1995) (this court will reverse a conviction ifjury "instructions are incorrect as a matter 

oflaw or capable of confusing and thereby misleading the jury."). Although the jury is the trier 

of facts, ''there is no presumption that they are familiar with the law." State v. Lindsey, 160 

W.Va. 284, 291, 233 S.E.2d 734, 739 (1977), quoting State v. Loveless, 139 W.Va. 454, 469,80 

S.E.2d 442, 450 (1954). Unless the jury is adequately instructed regarding the law, it "becomes 

mired in a factual morass, unable to draw the appropriate legal conclusions based on the facts." 

State v. Guthrie, 194 W.Va. 657,672,461 S.E.2d 163, 178 (1995). 

That is what happened in the instant c~se. The trial court refused to instruct the jury on 

the law ofvoluntary intoxication, which left the jury lost in a quagmire of facts regarding 

Petitioner's intoxication with no direction from the court about what to do with them. The trial 

court's failure to instruct the jury regarding the Petitioner's voluntary intoxication was an error 
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"capable ofconfusing and thereby misleading the jury" that it did not matter whether Petitioner 

was intoxicated, and this is an abuse ofdiscretion. Id. 

II. 	 The trial court abused its discretion by refusing to instruct the jury regarding the legal 

effect ofPetitioner's voluntary intoxication upon the specific intent elements of 

premeditated murder and felony murder. 


A. 	 The trial court abused its discretion by disregarding evidence of Petitioner's 
intoxication and refusing to allow the jury to decide ifPetitioner's intoxication 
affected his mens rea. 

The trial court's stated reasons for refusing to read Petitioner's voluntary intoxication 

jury instructions are somewhat baffling. A. R. 1368-69, 1971-73. The trial court raised no issue 

with the legal sufficiency of the instructions. Rather, the court found that Petitioner did not 

introduce evidence that Petitioner was so intoxicated "at the time the criminal act was 

committed, that he was at that moment unable to form the requisite intent ... the Defendant was 

the only person there ... and he can offer no evidence as to his condition" because he claimed 

lack ofmemory. A.R. 1368-69 [emphasis added]. However, Donna Daniels and Lisa Meador 

testified extensively about Petitioner's intoxication immediately before and after he killed 

Rhonda McCoy. Their testimony reasonably raises the issue of whether Petitioner was grossly 

intoxicated at the moment he left to go to Jeffrey Redden's trailer with the stated intention of 

getting more beer, and when he returned 5-7 minutes later after killing Rhonda McCoy. See 

Larock, 196 W.Va. at 308,470 S.E.2d at 627 (1996); A.R. 939, 1123-24. 

The circuit court seemed to imply that the only way Petitioner could provide an 

evidentiary foundation for an intoxication instruction would be testimony from a witness to the 

killing; and since Petitioner cannot remember and Rhonda McCoy is deceased, the instruction 

was refused. This is an unreasonably narrow reading of the law. State v. Keeton, 166 W.Va. 77, 

272 S.E.2d 817 (1980); State v. Slddmore, 228 W.Va. 166, 718 S.E.2d 516 n.6 (2011); State v. 
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Larock, 196 W.Va. 294, 308, 470 S.E.2d 613,627 (1996). Further, it discounts the abundance of 

circumstantial evidence ofPetitioner's intoxication, and there is no qualitative difference 

between direct and circumstantial evidence. State v. Guthrie, 194 W.Va. 657, 669,461 S.E.2d 

163,175 (1995). 

In an analogous case, this court reversed a 1 st degree murder conviction because there

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