RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in declining to instruct the jury on voluntary 
intoxication.

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

AR 1267-1268. 

He also agreed that when he confessed to his mother he accurately described the murder. AR 1268

1270. 

In support of the single assignment of error, that the trial court abused its discretion in refusing 

voluntary intoxication instructions, Petitioner's Brief (at 3-4) refers to testimony of Ms. Meador and Ms. 

Daniels concerning Hayslett's behavior on the evening of June 18, 2011, hours before he murdered Ms. 

McCoy. Petitioner's Brief cites testimony that, at approximately 9:30 p.m., Hayslett said that he was 

washing blood off of his truck, but that the blood appeared to be mud. Petitioner's Brief also refers to 

Hayslett's purported claims to Ms. Meador and Ms. Daniels, that he had murdered a man. Ms. Meador 

confirmed her statement to law enforcement that she believed that Hayslett was "lying" and 

"bullshitting" when he claimed to have murdered a man. AR 966. 

Petitioner's Brief (at 3) recites Ms. Daniels' testimony that when she arrived at Hayslett's 

residence at approximately 9:30 p.m. on June 18, 2011, Hayslett "would stagger, he - - he just didn't talk 

normal. I mean he was just talking things that didn't make sense." AR 1108-1109. However, on the 
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morning of June 19, 2011, Hayslett volunteered to Raleigh County Sheriffs Office Sgt. Redden that he 

had told the fake story of killing a man "because he was angry." AR 706. 

Petitioners Brief (at 3) includes the erroneous claim that Hayslett's mother "provided evidence 

that (Hayslett) was grossly intoxicated in the minutes before he killed Rhonda McCoy." In fact, Ms. 

Daniels was testifying about Hayslett's purported behavior when she "first saw him" upon her arrival at 

Hayslett's residence at approximately 9:30 p.m. on June 18, 2011. AR 1104-1108. As discussed above, 

Ms. McCoy's estimated time of death was between midnight and 3:00 a.m. on June 19, 2011. 

Petitioners Brief (at 10) also erroneously claims that Ms. Meador and Ms. Daniels testified "about 

(Hayslett's) intoxication before and after he killed Ms. McCoy." There was no testimony by Ms. Meador 

or Ms. Daniels that Hayslett was intoxicated when he returned to his home, covered in blood and 

carrying the bloody Buck knife after butchering Ms. McCoy. 

Petitioners Brief (at 5) also erroneously asserts that Hayslett "introduced evidence from three 

witnesses that he was "grossly intoxicated when he retrieved his stepson's hunting knife and traveled 

176 yards on foot to Jeffrey Redden's trailer for the stated purpose of getting a beer, only to kill Rhonda 

McCoy instead." There were two witnesses: Ms. Meador and Ms. Daniels, neither of whom ever saw 

Hayslett consume anything. Now, in Petitioner's Brief (at 5 ) Hayslett - - who claims he was mentally 

incapacitated by drugs and alcohol - - contends that his "purpose" in returning to Mr. Redden's trailer 

was to get beer. Hayslett thereby concedes that he was not so mentally incapacitated as to be 

incapable of purpose and intent. Petitioner's Brief contains no citation to any evidence that Hayslett 

was so mentally incapacitated as to have believed that the Buck knife he had retrieved and hidden in the 

back of his pants was a beer stein. Petitioner' Brief contains no citation to evidence that when he fled 

from Ms. Meador and his mother - - assaulting his mother in the process - - to return to Mr. Redden's 

trailer and use the Buck knife for its obvious purpose, he was so mentally incapacitated as to be unable 

to form the intent to do that which he did. 
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Petitioner's Brief (at 5) erroneously contends that Hayslett "testified extensively regarding his 

intoxication in the hours leading up to (Ms.) McCoy's killing." As discussed above, Hayslett claimed total 

amnesia from at least 2:00 p.m. on June 18, 2011 until he awoke at his mother's home at approximately 

9:00 a.m. on June 19, 2011. Given his purported nineteen hour memory lapse, he conceded that he - 

one ofthe "three witnesses" referred to in Petitioner's Brief (at 5) - - had no evidence to offer in support 

of his claim of mental incapacitation at the time of the murder. 

Q: And you are now admitting that you are the person that murdered 
Rhonda McCoy? 

A: Yes, ma'am. 

Q: And you're not denying that you had malice, because you don't have 
any memory, right? 

A: Yes, ma'am. 

Q: And you're not denying that you had the intent to kill, because had have 
no memory of anything, right? 

A: Correct. 

Q: Any you are not denying that you premeditated the murder of Ms. 
McCoy because you don't have any memory of anything, do you? 

A: No, ma'am. 

AR 1307-1308. 

Petitioner's Brief (at 4) cites Ms. Daniels' testimony in support of the demonic possession 

defense referred to in Petitioner's Brief (at 5) - - not a voluntary intoxication defense. 

When he was sitting on the couch with - - beside of me, Lisa 
(Meador) was across from us, and he was sitting there and he 
looked fine and I was talking to him, and then all of a sudden his 
face just changed, his eyes got like a glare. The eyebrows just 
looked like they swelled and came over the forehead, just like 
knotty, and his jawbones just real - - looked like they came up or 
- - I'd never seen anything like it in my life. And I said, Brian, are 
you okay, and he just got up and "gurrr," just like a growling 
type. AR 1126-1127. 
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Ms. Daniels confirmed that until the night of June 18, 2011 to the early morning hours of June 

19, 2011, she had never before observed her son "shortly before he's about to commit murder." AR 

1159-1160. Neither Ms. Meador nor Ms. Daniels offered any evidence that Hayslett was intoxicated - 

"grossly" or "fairly" - - when he returned home after murdering Ms. McCoy. Ms. Daniels testified that 

when Hayslett returned home he was "white as a ghost" and staggered into the bathroom to vomit. He 

also was dripping blood and had the Buck knife in the back of his pants. When Ms. Meador saw the 

knife, "she ran to the bathroom crying and locked the door." AR 1127-1129. While Ms. Meador was 

locked in the bathroom, Hayslett confessed the murder to his mother - - after she first grabbed the Buck 

knife and washed blood from it "so ... it would not dribble ...." Although Hayslett had confessed to his 

mother, she joined him in lying to Ms. Meador through the locked bathroom door, yelling "He didn't do 

anything." AR 1150-1152,1156. 

Highlighting the fact that there was no evidence that while he murdered Ms. McCoy, Hayslett 

was mentally incapacitated so as to be unable to premeditate, his mother testified that after Hayslett's 

return home from the murder and throughout the morning of June 19, 2011, when she drove Hayslett 

back to his neighborhood, she was "so afraid of him, (she) did everything he told (her) to do." This 

included hiding Hayslett's bloody clothes. AR 1157-1161. This also was when Ms. Daniels watched 

Hayslett throw the murder weapon out of the car window. AR 1162-1164. 

Petitioner's Brief ignores Hayslett's subsequent on-scene confession and also ignores the fact 

that, upon Hayslett's motions, he had two forensic evaluations by a psychologist and a psychiatrist of his 

choosing. The first evaluation, by Dr. Waller of Clayman & Associates, included the fact that Hayslett - 

contrary to his trial testimony - - remembered returning to Mr. Redden's trailer after midnight and being 

in "the back of the trailer" with Ms. McCoy and being "on the ground" and making "contact" with her 

because she was "still mad about before." AR 1853. Dr. Waller concluded that Hayslett was both 

competent and criminally responsible. AR 1859. The defense did not seek to call Dr. Waller at trial. 
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The defense did seek to call Hayslett's next evaluator, Dr. Bobby Miller, and there is no appellate 

claim that the trial court erred in refusing to permit Dr. Miller to testify in support of a voluntary 

intoxication defense. Dr. Miller found that, at the time of the murder of Ms. McCoy, Hayslett "had the 

cognitive ability to act in a willful and deliberate manner that emanated from malice emanating from 

their earlier altercation." AR 1928. The trial court ruled, inter alia, that because "deliberate" and 

"premeditated" are, by law, synonymous, Dr. Millers opinion - - that Hayslett was capable of malice, 

willfulness and deliberation at the time of the murder - - would not assist the jury in determining 

Hayslett's claim of voluntary intoxication pursuant to W.va. Rules of Evidence 702 and that Dr. Millers 

additional opinions would be irrelevant pursuant to W.Va. Rules of Evidence 401. AR 49-53. "Under 

West Virginia law, the terms 'deliberate' and 'premeditated' are synonymous." State v. Prophet, 234 

W.Va. 33, 41, 762 S.E. 2d 602, 610 (2014), State v. Miller, 197 W.Va. 588, 600, 476 S.E. 2d 535, 547 

(1996). 

Petitioners Brief also ignores the fact that the trial court, in pre-trial hearings, heard Hayslett's 

recorded interview with Dr. Bobby Miller. AR 27-33. In this interview on June 13, 2013, Hayslett and 

Dr. Miller shared laughs and insults about Ms. McCoy's physical appearance and specifically about her 

breasts. AR 1971-1989. Contrary to his trial testimony, Hayslett recalled salient details of the murder. 

He recalled returning to Mr. Redden's trailer immediately before the murder, when supposedly he 

"knocked on the door and Rhonda answered it and started into a big ass fight again." He recalled that 

he had the Buck knife - - not his usual pocket knife - - and that he didn't remember "too much" about 

the murder, but recalled that he and Ms. McCoy "ended up on the ground" in the back bedroom of Mr. 

Redden's trailer. AR 1980-1981. Dr. Miller responded to Hayslett's claim of partial amnesia. 

MILLER: No, no, don't do that to me. I mean, I've been hired for your 
defense, don't skip nothing. 

*** 
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*** 


MILLER: Well you understand though I can't help you because you don't 
know nothing. 

AR 1978, 1989. 

The claim in Petitioners Brief (at 1) that "at trial, the defense questioned whether (Hayslett) ... 

could form the intent to kill ..." is contradicted by the fact that, in closing argument, defense counsel 

urged the jury to return a verdict of guilty of second degree murder. Thus, the defense conceded that 

Hayslett not only had the mental capacity to form the intent to kill, but that he did, in fact, form such 

intent. This is because "intent to kill is an element of second degree murder." Gerlach v. Ballard, 233 

W.Va. 141, 149, 756 S.E. 2d 195, 203 (2013). If Hayslett had the mental capacity necessary for a 

conviction of second degree murder, he also had the capacity to form the intent to kill when he entered 

Mr. Redden's trailer at the time of the murder - - the "intent to commit a crime therein" which is the 

requisite intent for burglary. The defense thereby conceded that Hayslett was not so mentally 

incapacitated that he was unable to commit burglary, being the underlying felony for the alternative 

theory of first degree murder by felony murder. 

Defense counsel argued: 

Of course, the appropriate verdict in this case would be second-degree murder. 
[ 1 I have to concede that the State did prove second-degree murder in this 
case ... 

*** 

I'd ask that you return a verdict of gUilty of second-degree murder. 

AR 1451-1452. 

The trial court refused to instruct the jury on the defense of voluntary intoxication because 

there was no evidence that, at the time of Hayslett's murder of Ms. McCoy, he lacked the mental 

capacity to form the requisite intent for premeditated murder or for felony murder. Defense counsel at 

trial stated that the defendant "agreed" with the trial court's analysis: "The issue under the law is ... 
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not whether the Defendant was intoxicated, it is whether he was so intoxicated that - - at the time the 

criminal act was committed, that he was at that moment unable to form the requisite intent." The trial 

court found that the "requisite element of a voluntary intoxication" instruction - - evidence of Hayslett's 

incapacity to form the intent to kill and premeditation - - was "absent from this case." AR 1368-1370. 

Petitioners Brief (at 6) includes defense counsel's misstatement of the evidence during 

counsel's argument with the trial court. "(C)ounsel protested that ... five minutes before the offense 

occurred, he was falling down, out of his mind drunk." A review of the entire testimony of Ms. Meador 

and Ms. Daniels confirms that neither reported that Hayslett was "falling down drunk" at any time prior 

to the murder. In the last several moments before he entered Mr. Redden's trailer to murder Ms. 

McCoy, Hayslett outran the two women and traveled on foot 176 yards to the trailer and then, after 

attacking Ms. McCoy and slicing her throat and stabbing her twenty-three times and burying her body, 

he walked back home, for a total running and walking distance of 3 X football fields - - a supernatural 

feat for one who allegedly was "falling down drunk." AR 697. 

Pursuant to W.Va. Code § 61-2-1, the trial court instructed the jury on premeditated first degree 

murder and on first degree murder by felony murder, with the underlying felony being Hayslett's entry 

into Mr. Redden's trailer at the time of the murder with the intent to commit a crime therein. AR 1952

1958. The jury also was instructed on second degree murder. AR 1959. There is no claim of error as to 

these instructions or as to any other instructions in this case. 

On August 19, 2015, the jury returned a verdict finding Hayslett guilty of first degree murder 

with no recommendation of mercy. Raleigh County Circuit Court Judge Robert A. Burnside, Jr then 

sentenced Hayslett to life imprisonment with no eligibility for parole. AR 1967-1970. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 
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Oral argument is unnecessary because the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented 

in the briefs and record on appeal and the decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral 

argument. This case is appropriate for a memorandum decision affirming the conviction and sentence 

because there are no substantial questions of law; there are no errors in the trial court's decisions as to 

any questions of law and, upon consideration of the applicable standard of review and the record 

presented, there is no prejudicial error. 

ARGUMENT 

I. Hayslett fails to show that his proferred voluntary intoxication instructions were correct 
statements of law and that the trial court abused its discretion in ruling that the instructions were not 
supported by sufficient evidence.s 

Hayslett cannot establish that the two proffered instructions referred to in Petitioner's Brief 

were correct statements of law, because there is no citation to the text of the instructions and they do 

not appear in the appendix record. Pursuant to W.Va. Rules of Appellate Procedure 10(c((7), "(t)he 

argument must contain ... specific citations to the record on appeal, including citations that pinpoint ... 

how the issues in the assignments of error were presented to the lower tribunal. The Court may 

disregard errors that are not adequately supported by specific references to the record on appeal." 

The trial court in this case did not make a finding that the proffered instructions were either 

correct or incorrect statements of law, because it found as a threshold matter that there was insufficient 

evidence to support the instructions. AR. 1358-1371. Recognizing that there may be cases in which, 

because there is sufficient evidence to support a defense instruction, the trial court should correct an 

incorrect instruction so that the jury is adequately informed of the applicable law, this Brief of the 

Respondent will address Hayslett's single assignment of error, that the trial court allegedly abused its 

8 Although there is only one assignment of error, Petitioner's Brief has two "Argument" headings. "Argument 
II," and the response thereto, is subsumed under "Argument I" and the response thereto. 
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discretion in declining the two proffered voluntary intoxication instructions. See State v. Hinkle, 200 

W.Va. 280,489 S.E. 2d 257 (1996). 

Whether facts are sufficient to justify the delivery of a 
particular instruction is reviewed by this Court under an 
abuse of discretion standard. Of course, in criminal 
cases where a conviction results, the evidence and any 
reasonable inferences are considered in the light most 
favorable to the prosecution. 
Syl. Pt. 12, State v. Derr, 192 W.Va. 165,451 S.E. 2d 731 
(1994). 

As this Court in Derr confirmed, "a trial court can refuse an instruction not raised by sufficient 

evidence. See State v. Gum, 172 W.Va. 534, 309 S.E. 2d 32 (1983}." Under the applicable standard of 

review, the inquiry is limited to "whether the trial court was so irrational and arbitrary that it can be said 

to have abused its discretion." State v. McGinnis, 193 W.Va. 147, 159,455 S.E. 2d 516, 528 (1994). 

Petitioner's Brief (at 9-12) cites State v. Skidmore, 228 W. Va. 166, 718 S.E. 2d 516 (2011) in 

erroneously asserting that there was evidence of Hayslett's "gross intoxication" when he walked into 

Mr. Redden's trailer, led Ms. McCoy into an abandoned back bedroom, stabbed her twenty-three times 

with his Buck knife - - nearly beheading her - - buried her under discarded clothes and then walked back

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